Illinois State University

ISU ReD: Research and eData

Theses and Dissertations

3-30-2020

Increasing Engagement With Student Government Associations: An Examination Of Student Publics

Viraj Patel Illinois State University, vpate14@ilstu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/etd



Part of the Mass Communication Commons, and the Political Science Commons

Recommended Citation

Patel, Viraj, "Increasing Engagement With Student Government Associations: An Examination Of Student Publics" (2020). Theses and Dissertations. 1230.

https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/etd/1230

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ISU ReD: Research and eData. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ISU ReD: Research and eData. For more information, please contact ISUReD@ilstu.edu.



INCREASING ENGAGEMENT WITH STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATIONS: AN EXAMINATION OF STUDENT PUBLICS

VIRAJ PATEL

65 Pages

Student Government Associations (SGAs) are campus organizations comprised of student leaders which advocate on behalf of the student population. Participation in SGAs have proven academic, professional, and social benefits, yet the engagement in the organization has declined. This study employs Daft and Lengel's (1986) Media Richness Theory to examine if different media affect the composition of student publics. These publics are defined using Grunig's (1979) Situational Theory of Publics (STP). Additionally, the impact of self-efficacy, response efficacy, and perceptions of social norms on the variables in STP is also examined.

KEYWORDS: Student Government, Higher Education, Student Participation, Media Richness, Civic Engagement



INCREASING ENGAGEMENT WITH STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATIONS: AN EXAMINATION OF STUDENT PUBLICS

VIRAJ PATEL

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

School of Communication

ILLINOIS STATE UNIVERSITY

2020





INCREASING ENGAGEMENT WITH STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATIONS: AN EXAMINATION OF STUDENT PUBLICS

VIRAJ PATEL

COMMITTEE MEMBERS:

Stephen K. Hunt, Chair

Joseph Blaney

Joseph Zompetti



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I want to begin by thanking my Chair, Dr. Stephen Hunt – your enthusiastic leadership helped me make my idea a reality. To my committee members, Dr. Joseph Blaney and Dr. Joseph Zompetti – your thorough guidance held me accountable and kept me motivated during inevitable times of struggle. The three of you made this thesis possible, and after this experience I am not only a better scholar, but a better person – one who is more patient, and more driven. I also want to acknowledge my dearest friends, Bruce Lanigan, Mallorie Latora, and Melissa Belmontes, for being a soundboard for my ideas and for listening to me when I complained about not wanting to write the thesis.

I want to thank the Students' Association at South Dakota State University – my two years as a Senator for the College for Arts and Sciences helped me become the leader I am today.

I would not be living my best life without the endless love and support of my mom Gita, my dad Virendra, and my sister Krina. I have not visited you all back home since December 2015, but you are always with me in each breath I take. I love you, and I thank you for trusting an 18-year-old to travel 8000 miles while you all struggle back home.

I want to thank some of my favorite Hip-Hop artists – Kendrick Lamar, Eminem, J. Cole, Dr. Dre, Snoop Dogg, and Tupac – your songs make me believe that I am not only capable of success, but also worthy.

Finally, I want to thank me. I want to thank me for putting in the work. I want to thank me for doing my best. I want to thank me for trusting the process. I want to thank me for knowing that I am enough. And I want to thank me for being me – without any of this I would have never made it to where I am today.

V.P.



CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	i
TABLES	vi
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Introduction	1
CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW	5
Student Government Associations (SGAs)	5
History of SGAs	5
SGAs and Student Engagement	8
Academic Engagement	8
Cognitive Engagement	9
Social Engagement	9
Affective Element	10
Criticisms of SGAs	11
Declining SGA Participation	13
Time	13
Civic Engagement	14
Increasing Student Engagement with SGAs	15
Situational Theory of Publics	16
Problem Recognition	17
Constraint Recognition	18
Communication Behaviors	18



	Level of Involvement	19
	Past Experiences	20
M	Iedia Richness Theory	20
	Media Richness	20
	Equivocality	21
	Emphasis on Media over Message	22
	Criticisms of MRT	22
S	GAs and Public Relations	23
F	actors Influencing Behavior	24
	Perceptions of Social Norms	25
	Self-Efficacy	25
	Response Efficacy	26
СНАРТЕ	ER III: METHODS	28
P	articipants and Procedure	28
R	esearch Design	29
N	leasures	30
	Problem Recognition	30
	Level of Involvement	31
	Constraint Recognition	31
	Self-Efficacy	31
	Response Efficacy	32
	Perceptions of Social Norms	32
ח	ata Analysis	33



CHAPTER IV: RESULTS		3	5
Results		3	5
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION		4	1
Implications		4	1
Problem Recogn	ition	4	1
Constraint Reco	gnition	4	2
Level of Involve	ment	4	2
Perceptions of S	ocial Norms and STP	4	3
Self-Efficacy and	d STP	4	3
Response Effica	cy and STP	4	4
Limitations		4	4
Ecological Valid	lity	4	4
COVID-19 and I	Face-to-Face Condition	4	5
Participant Dem	ographics	4	6
Low Reliabilitie	s	4	6
Directions for Future Re	esearch	4	7
Communicative	Behaviors and Media	4	7
Civic Engageme	nt	4	7
Temporal Exam	ination	4	8
Social Media and	d Political Participation	4	9
Student Participa	ation and Twitter	4	9
Students of Colo	or and Underrepresented Groups	5	0
Conclusion		5	1



REFERENCES	5.
APPENDIX	6.



TABLES

Table	Page
1. Typology of Publics based on Communication Behavior	19
2. Descriptive Statistics for Within Group Analyses for Problem Recognition	35
3. Descriptive Statistics for Within Group Analyses for Level of Involvement	36
4. Descriptive Statistics for Within Group Analyses for Constraint Recognition	36
5. Descriptive Statistics for Between Group Analyses by Manipulation Condition	37
6. Descriptive Statistics for Independent and Predictor Variables in Regressions	38
7. Pearson Correlations for all Variables	38
8. Beta Weights for Problem Recognition	38
9. Beta Weights for Level of Involvement	39
10. Beta Weights for Constraint Recognition	40



CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Introduction

I was introduced to American politics by characters in *The West Wing*, a workplace drama about the White House. The show follows a fictitious President and his senior staff who, as members of the Democratic party, engage in progressive politics. As a result, my values regarding the role of government and my duties as a voter in a society are idealistic. Just like Sam Seaborn and C.J. Cregg, characters in the television series, I believe that voter apathy and citizen inaction only exacerbate societal problems. So, in the sophomore year of my undergraduate career, I signed up to be a Senator for the College of Arts and Sciences for the Students' Association on my campus. During my two-year tenure, I was able to help my constituents address their academic, professional, and social concerns. I served on the Finance Committee, helping distribute \$2.8 million/year among student organizations. Additionally, I interacted with the Presidents, Provosts, Deans, City Councilpersons, and Mayors, to implement policies on campus as well as in the community.

Student Government Associations (SGAs) are also known as Students' Associations, Student Governments, and College Student Councils. At the most rudimentary level, SGAs are organizations comprised of elected student leaders, who represent the student body by interacting in decision-making with campus administrators, staff, and faculty (Cohen & Krisker, 2010; Friedson & Schuhmann, 1955; May, 2010). The history of SGAs is parallel to the evolution of the federal government in the United States. National governance structures developed in response to protests and community dissatisfaction. According to May (2010), college students were discontent with the inferior treatment they received from campus administrators. As a



result, students developed SGAs to take control of their collegiate experience and focus on problems faced by the student community.

According to Adler and Goggin (2005), when individuals become involved with the community, they partake in civic engagement. However, Saltmarsh and Hartley (2011) disagree, stating that "mere activity in a community does not constitute civic engagement" (p 17). Keeter, Zukin, Andolina, and Jenkins (2002) clarified by providing 19 indicators for community involvement, including but not limited to community problem solving, regular voting, protesting, and contacting officials. Skarmeas, Leonidou, Saridakis, and Mussara (2019) explained that civic engagement "can activate change in individuals' behavior and thus generate public support, which is *sine qua non* in the solution of large-scale problems" (p. 3).

Shifting the focus regarding civic engagement from the community to academia, Woolard (2015) created a typology of seven civic education pedagogies. Building on this typology, Hunt and Woolard (2016) expressed that, classroom education is a necessary component to increase civic engagement and, "various pedagogies of civic education, promote active student learning engagement" (p. 545). Kuh, Cruse, Shoup, and Kinzie (2008) added that institutional commitment is necessary for civic education to flourish. As organizations, SGAs help student access institutional entities while holding them accountable, serving as a platform for practical civic engagement. According to the criteria derived from Keeter et al. (2002), and Woolard (2015), this engagement is indicated by SGA leaders' interactions with students regrading problems on campus, or conversations with administrators regarding organizational concerns, and even involvement in process of curating and executing an electoral campaign.

Participation in SGAs has several benefits as well. Lawless and Fox (2013) discovered that students who participated in SGAs were seven times more likely than their peers to run for



political office, vote, and become involved in the community. Yet, SGAs are not necessarily a predictor of civic engagement after graduating college. Rather, SGAs model civic engagement for students. SGAs provide a low-risk environment to understand the structures of local, state, and national governance institutions, and can equip students with tools to be engaged within their communities. However, student involvement in SGAs has declined over the past few years (Daprile, 2019; Ellington, 2019; O'Brien, 2018; Wooddell, 2019). Having been a part of SGA, this paper is my attempt to examine the effectiveness of the media used to increase student engagement with SGAs.

Rather than focusing on the message, this study seeks to inspect the importance of the media used to deliver the message. SGAs use social media, emails, and print materials such as posters and flyers, to disseminate information to students. Grunig's (1976) Situational Theory of Publics (STP) argues that consumers react to Public Relations (PR) efforts by organizations in different ways based on their beliefs about a certain problem. Grunig placed individuals into four publics – active, aware, latent, or none, based on their interactions with PR messages created by organizations. This paper seeks to understand the influence of media on the composition of student publics. The study is predicated on the fact that exposure to different media could change the levels of independent variables in STP, resulting in a change in publics. The difference between the message and the media delivering the message has been described using Lengel and Daft's (1988) Media Richness Theory (MRT). According to MRT, messages differ in their effectiveness based on the media which is used to deliver them. Analyzing STP in relation with MRT is beneficial in examining the effectiveness of current media and improving their design for PR purposes.



Additionally, STP furthers that PR messages aim to change consumer behavior. Witte's (1992) Extended Parallel Process Model (EPPM) examines the role of efficacy in behavioral change interventions. Student perceptions about their own ability to interact with SGAs and their beliefs about SGAs as organizations lead to participation, or lack thereof. As a result, self-efficacy and response-efficacy are also studied to expand STP. Ajzen and Fishbein's (1980) Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) posits that perceptions of societal norms are an important factor in predicting individual action. Peer perceptions of SGAs could influence student participation, hence the relationship between STP and perceptions of social norms is also considered in this research. The next sections include information about past research surrounding SGAs, the variables in STP, MRT, EPPM, and TPB. Additionally, the methods for data collections and analysis are outlined and commentary on results is provided. The thesis ends with a discussion about the findings and limitations, and direction for future research.



CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW

Student Government Associations (SGAs)

History of SGAs

Student satisfaction with higher education was extremely low until the 1900s because of the stratification of campus population with teachers and administrators at the top and students at the bottom (May, 2010). This hierarchical organization at higher education institutions was driven by the power distance between the two groups. Katz (1968) described the culture surrounding academia from 1700s to 1900s as one in which students were subservient to campus administrators, faculty, and staff, and not worthy of the same rights as teachers or even other citizens. Coulter (1979) added that officials at the University of Georgia during the late 1700s and early 1800s believed that students "had no rights that need be respected, in fact they were not supposed to be important enough to have rights" (p. 47). Student freedom was not considered a part of academic experience, so much so that "nearly every aspect of their lives was controlled and monitored by the faculty and college administrators" (May, 2010, p. 208). For students, the lack of ownership surrounding their lives was exacerbated by absence of activities outside of academics.

Rudolph (1990) expressed that curriculum in colonial times and the early 18th century centered around classical education. May (2010) added that "elective and professional courses were not available" (p. 208). During 1870-1890, many college administrators perceived that extracurricular activities would provide little benefit to the student population (Gholson, 1985). Administrative control of students' lives made it impossible for these activities to exist. However, May (2010) furthered "as with students of any era, these young people sought ways to express themselves, to find something to fill their time, and to empower themselves and become



engaged in their campus environments" (p. 208). It is evident from these authors that autonomy in engagement was a priority for student populations.

Lack of control over their own lives prompted students to organize revolts and rebellions during the late 1700s and early 1800s. During this period, students targeted instructors and torched buildings to protest their subordinate-like treatment by college officials (Jackson, 2000). This tumultuous phase led to what Freeman (2017) called "a period of passive acceptance" by college administrators and faculty (p. 16). During this time, college administrators began to relinquish some authority and control to students (Crane, 1969). Students seized this opportunity to establish systems that gave them control over their student life. Student organizations started to emerge to provide college students access to extracurricular activities (Gholson, 1983). This was the genesis of organized student self-governance in the United States.

Friedson and Shuchman (1955) defined student self-governance as a "type of organization which by virtue of its composition and constitution is entitled to represent the student community as a whole" (p. 6). This self-governance started in the form of literary societies. May (2010) explained that these societies "enabled students to become engaged educationally and socially" and influenced the creation of campus libraries (p. 209). While managing these libraries, students developed a set of rules for borrowing and returning books. According to Harding (1959), at "Yale in 1856 seniors and juniors only were allowed to draw or consult books" (p. 95). At Harvard it was a rule that "no person, expect the librarian and his assistant shall go into the alcoves of the general library" (Carlton, 1907, p. 483). These rules served as a basis for the by-laws and regulations used by contemporary SGAs.

In the early 1830s, colleges started offering extracurricular activities such as athletics, fraternities, clubs, and other honor societies (Coates & Coates, 1985). The increase in



extracurricular activities led to student identification by their class associations and "as a result class councils were established in the late 1800s and early 1900s" (May, 2010, p. 212). These councils, governed by elected class officers, handled honor and discipline infractions among their peers and acted as liaisons between students and administrators (Somers, 2003). As previously noted, administrators were averse to providing students control over their lives. However, by managing infractions among peers, student councils developed mechanisms for self-accountability, and in the process, established a rapport with college administrators.

Coincidentally, the acceptance of extracurricular activities took place around the same time when women and some racial minorities were allowed admittance into colleges (Caple, 1998; Gordon, 1990). As student populations across campuses increased, extracurricular activities became a marker by which students began identifying themselves. Therefore, the influence of student councils began to decline. Yet, the effects of student councils were significant. Harris and Dyer (2006) contended that the student self-regulation provided by student councils was "clearly a precursor to student involvement in campus judicial matters, setting the groundwork for the student governments that arose in their wake" (p. 34). In the mid-20th century, the creation of representative governance organizations was formalized into the contemporary form of student associations (May, 2010). These student governments included, "honor systems, advisory councils to faculty, committees with power of discipline, oversight of residence halls, and management of extracurricular activities" (Cohen & Krisker, 2010, p. 261). To that extent, participation in SGAs, as a leader or a member, facilitated and continues to facilitate several cultural, social, educational, and professional benefits.



SGAs and Student Engagement

Benefits of SGAs cannot be debated without understanding that SGAs serve as a good indicator and measure for student engagement. Finn and Zimmer (2012) summarize past research and posit two components of student engagement: behavioral and affective. The behavioral component comprises of three elements – academic, social, and cognitive engagement. The affective element "is a level of emotional response characterized by feelings of involvement in school as a place and a set of activities worth pursuing" (p. 103). The authors conclude that organizations which include these four elements are likely to attract student engagement. The following section contains examples which help justify the use of SGAs as a measure for student engagement.

Academic engagement. Finn and Zimmer (2012) claimed that "certain minimal 'threshold' levels of academic engagement are essential for learning to occur" (p. 102). This academic engagement may come in the form of formal classroom education or can be augmented through co-curricular or extra-curricular activities. Miller and Kraus (2004) posited that students gain "organizational, planning, managing, and decision-making skills from their experience in student government" by participating in SGAs (p. 424). These intangible, life-long skills are extremely beneficial, especially in the workplace.

A dated study conducted among AT&T male managers revealed that participation in student government increased managerial potential (Bray, Campbell, & Grant, 1974). SGA leaders often interact with their peers, faculty and staff, college administrators, state lawmakers, and state Board of Reagents. These interactions are likely to provide negotiation and public speaking skills, which could assist managerial ventures. Laosebikan-Buggs (2009) conducted qualitative interviews with SGA presidents to research their involvement in campus governance.



One student claimed, "as a SGA representative in ANY capacity, one is given access to a pool of influential people/companies that other people are not" (p. 93). Student benefits of participation in SGA are evident even after their graduation from a higher education institution, leading us to a discussion of the next two elements.

Cognitive engagement. Organizations are successful in increasing student participation when they have proven benefits for the audience. As explained by Finn and Zimmer (2012) these benefits can be exhibited cognitively, in that they require "expenditure of thoughtful energy" and socially, in that the audience is motivated to continue in engagement behaviors (p. 102). The risk-free, experimental environment provided by SGAs on college campuses in the United States is a great mechanism to promote cognitive and social engagement.

Participation in SGA involves an internal investment from an individual. May (2010) stated that participating in SGAs leads to an understanding of some of the key components of the civic processes which include deliberation and negotiation using legal language, often using parliamentary procedures. Andrews (2010) argues that development of these argumentative skills are imperative "to argue rationally in a civilized society" and can lead to civic participation. The author adds that argumentation facilitates advances in education, as well because it increases critical thinking skills. These studies conclude that the processes used in SGAs lead to cognitive development, which in turn lead to social engagement.

Social engagement. In Finn and Zimmer's (2012) research, social engagement involves adherence to norms and rules set forth by the university. This argument can be extended to SGAs by focusing on their long-term impact. Rhee and Kim (2011) explained that student participation in SGA and organized demonstrations help develop civic values. Lawless and Fox (2013) concluded that SGA involvement was likely to increase future candidacy for political office



seven-fold. The concept of service learning, i.e., "the merging of traditional classroom experiences with community services projects" adds to the social engagement perspective (Hunt & Woolard, 2016, p. 538). SGAs provide a platform for both theoretical and practical community engagement. Adding to these civic outcomes, students interact with local and state policymakers, which provides them direct tools to partake in the process of governmental decision-making. These research studies prove that participation in SGA has benefits for the institution, the student, and the society.

Affective element. Participation in student organizations can also be improved by a focus on the affect it generates among participants. Finn and Zimmer (2012) clarified that "affectively engaged students feel included in the school community and that school is a significant part of their own lives (belonging), and recognize that school provides tools for out-of-school accomplishments (valuing)" (p. 103). Essentially, the more students feel as if their actions have an impact on their communities, the more they are likely to be engaged with an organization. As Golden and Schwartz (1994) explained, "the student government was essentially an extension of the college administration with little decision-making responsibilities and not an independent entity that has power to make decisions and influence campus policy" (p. 34). This generated negative affect among students, until recently as students have gained the trust of college administrators.

Most SGAs now provide students with the ability to influence campus policy. Kezar (2005) posited that "high-performing schools include students in policymaking" by encouraging participation in "committees, task forces, and governance groups, often in leadership roles" (p. 2). Additionally, universities benefit from an active, engaged group of students. Sabin and Daniels (2001) stated that student involvement in collegiate policymaking is a mutually



beneficial exchange because it facilitates enhanced institutional transparency, considerate and inclusive deliberation of university policies, and an experiential learning of organizational processes. Ideally, campus administrators seek to improve the collegiate experience of students. SGAs provide a clear mechanism to facilitate administrations and students to talk about the pros and cons of student involvement. This connection between key components in the vertical hierarchy of higher education promotes affective engagement. Since SGAs promote academic, cognitive, social, and affective engagement among students, they serve as an appropriate measure for student engagement.

Criticisms of SGAs

McKaig and Poticello (1999) theorized that "an analysis of an institution's philosophy toward the culture and value of student involvement is critical in order to give context to the role of student government" (p. 1). The level of involvement with SGAs differs by institution, yet the areas of involvement are similar. Laosebikan-Buggs (2006) summarized the following four common areas where SGAs function:

- 1. serves as the official voice of students to the administration (representation);
- allows students to participate in the decision-making processes of university governance (voice);
- 3. ethical and responsible collection and dissemination of student fees; and
- 4. recognition of student organizations as well as the coordination of the activities of clubs and organizations on campus (advocacy) (in Miller & Nadler, 2006, p. 3).

These diverse range of activities under the purview of SGAs leave them open to criticism. To begin with, student leaders are criticized on terms of representation. Students are elected to SGAs on behalf of the student body, but representation is not always ubiquitous. Miles



(2011) explained that student leaders often become sidetracked by their own agendas, and "represent a certain sub-population of an institution and work to push forward the concerns of that one sub-population" (p. 327). This single-purpose focus by student leaders often leads to the perception of SGAs as elitist silos, out of reach of the very constituents the organization vows to serve.

By criticizing this under-representation, college administrations commonly withhold power from SGAs. Miles, Miller, and Nadler (2008) revealed that administrators deny autonomy to students by questioning their "age and maturity, self-interest in immediate outcomes as compared to long-term thinking, a contended naiveté about politics and institutional structures, and the argument that higher education is not egalitarian and should be governed by the best and most capable" (p. 1062). These preconceptions about students' decision-making abilities limits some SGAs to serve in a mere advisory role, where student leaders' opinions can be easily overruled by administrators.

As a mediated solution to this issue, college administrators often allow SGAs control over some finances. Love and Miller (2003) stated that "students have typically held control over many aspects of student life, such as fee money distribution" (p. 533). SGAs are often given a budget to allocate resources to campus and community organizations (Miles, 2011). The article continues, that with the help of advisors, student leaders can learn sound fiscal management from an organizational perspective. Yet, a lack of proportionate representation on SGAs leaves students vulnerable to making inequitable financial decisions. SGA members are often juniors or seniors, who do not reside on campus which can lead to a perception that these student leaders do not represent the part-time or commuter students (Miles, 2011). These criticisms lead to the



belief that SGAs are meant to represent a select few, in effect decreasing their value to higher education institutions.

Declining SGA Participation

Verba, Schlozman, and Brady (1995) examined the process through which citizens become active in a society. Their research revealed the most common reasons why people do not want to become politically active, "because they can't; because they don't want to; or because nobody asked. In other words, people may be inactive because they lack resources, because they lack psychological engagement with politics, or they are outside of the recruitment networks" (p. 269). While these claims were made pertaining to adults and their civic engagement, it applies to student populations as well. Adults and students experience similar types of constraints, although the physical manifestation of the constraint might differ.

Verba et al. (1995) stated three kinds of resources which predict participation: money, time, and civic engagement. While money is not a factor in SGA participation, it is a deciding factor for attending college. Urbi (2019) reported that the cost of higher education in the United States has doubled since the 1980s, accounting for inflation. Attending college is a precursor for students to benefit from the presence of and participation in SGAs. Hence the cost of enrollment in a university can itself affect civic engagement.

Time. Researchers have maintained that career-focused education, high cost of enrollment, presence of social clubs, athletics, and Greek life have led to decreased involvement (Giroux & Myrsiades, 2001; May, 2010; Schlesinger & Baldridge, 1982). Some researchers contend that "a wave of voter apathy" following World War II led to disinterest in student-self-governance (May, 2010, p. 214; Rudolph, 1990). These claims are predicated on the fact that students were more concerned with issues outside of campuses, such as the Civil Rights



Movement, and the war in Vietnam. This research implies that if different issues compete for audience attention, audiences will be involved in selective engagement.

Civic engagement. Participation in the political process is predicated on what Verba et al. (2015) referred to as psychological predispositions to engagement. The authors listed the characteristics which make individuals partake in the civic process which include "the sense of political efficacy that provides the subjective feeling that they can make a difference when they do" (p. 272). This has been the case with SGAs as well. Miles and Miller (1997) contended that post-World War II, "student demands for non-traditional services, such as married student housing and evening course offerings, demonstrated the ability of students to speak out and be heard in policy and administrative decision making" (p. 4). Students gained access to administrative structures through self-governance, gaining some attention, self-control, and ultimately more power over their own lives (May, 2010). These behavioral and psychological factors need to be considered when examining civic engagement. As a result, the ensuing research contains an examination of behavioral variables expressed in the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) and the Extended Parallel Process Model (EPPM).

Citizen participation in political processes has declined. Previous studies have argued that students are yet to recognize and utilize the power vested in them through SGA (May, 2010). The benefits of SGA might potentially lead to long-term civic engagement among students. As a result, any efforts to increase student participation need to be researched for effectiveness. Verba et al. (1995) claimed that recruitment leads to participation and that political mobilization is possible through conscious recruitment. SGAs across the country are seeking methods to increase student engagement.



Increasing Student Engagement with SGAs

SGAs at Northeastern University, Trinity College, Johns Hopkins University, and West Virginia University are a few of the several organizations looking to increase student engagement (Asbury, 2017; Heyward, 2017; McKeon, 2016; Parayil, 2018). SGAs seek to increase student engagement using various communication methods. Miles and Miller (1997) led several interviews to examine ways to increase student participation. The study revealed three key approaches through which SGAs sought to achieve these goals: increasing publicity efforts, creating sound SGA structures, and managing public attitudes about the organization.

Previous research regarding SGAs commented on the processes of creating and managing the organization (Cohen & Krisker, 2010; May 2010; Finn & Zimmer, 2012).

Research on publicity efforts is scarce but is often conducted using Media Richness Theory (MRT). Missing from this research is a conversation regarding the effectiveness of different publicity materials in managing public attitudes about SGAs. This study seeks to examine the effectiveness of different media on participant engagement. Grunig's (1976) Situational Theory of Publics (STP) classifies individuals into different groups based on how they interact with a specific issue. The situational nature of the theory makes it appropriate for our examination.

As mentioned before, student participation in SGAs could be affected by multiple issues competing for an audience's attention. For instance, an individual who cares more about smoking bans than parking-related complaints, is more likely to indulge in PR messages about the former topic. Using STP in our analysis assists in isolating, to a degree, the issue considered by the audience. The participants in the ensuing research study will encounter messages about participation in the SGA rather than specific problems experienced by students on campus. The study seeks to examine whether students want to participate in SGA and whether they perceive



SGA as an organization effective in solving their problems and concerns. The issue itself is participation in SGA, hence the use of STP as a theoretical lens is justified.

Situational Theory of Publics

In order to improve engagement with SGAs, leaders need to convey messages which will persuade students to think about SGA as an organization which is efficient and effective in solving their problems. A better understanding of student perceptions of PR media and messages used by SGA might help increase student engagement with the organization. According to Grunig (1978), the Situational Theory of Publics (STP) can serve "as a means of choosing and evaluating media for a particular public relations program" because it helps classify how certain types of audiences interact with organizations through public relations (PR) messages (p. 118).

STP takes an organizational view of human communication. Grunig (1976) initially posited this theory to understand how "public relations practitioners behave in the real world" (p. 1). He believed that organizations assumed the same PR messages would work for different audiences. However, individuals consume information in different forms, impacting message consumption. As a result, Grunig (1983) expanded STP to classify members of the audience into publics based on "how a person perceives a situation, whether he will communicate about the situation, how he will communicate about the situation, and whether he will have an attitude relevant to the situation" (p. 9). This definition of publics is predicated on previous public opinion research.

Blumer (1948) maintained that a public is formed when individuals identify a collective problem and seek a solution through discursive means. Dewey (1954) added that "the public consists of all those who are affected by the indirect consequences of transactions to such an extent that it is deemed necessary to have those consequences systematically cared for" (p. 16).



Based on these definitions, STP follows the logic that individuals interact with communicative messages from organizations by engaging in one of two types of communication behaviors: information seeking and information processing.

Information seeking behavior follows active communication styles, where an individual "purposively seeks information that has utility for him in deciding what to do in a situation" (Grunig, 1983, p. 11). Audiences who seek information tend to proactively search for solutions to a problem. Information processing behaviors are exemplified by individuals who do not "look for and generally does not need information that he processes" (Grunig, 1983, p. 11). These individuals are likely to consume information if it is presented to them. According to Grunig (1979) "watching television advertisements, reading a magazine while waiting for a medical appointment, listening to a stranger talk on a bus, or listening to the radio while driving, are all examples of information processing" (p. 742). Whether individuals seek or process information can be a determining factor to examine the effectiveness of different PR materials. Classification of audiences into these two groups demands a focus on the four independent variables used in this theory.

Problem Recognition

The premise of STP is that individuals choose to communicate with organizations in order to seek assistance in problem-solving (Grunig, 1976). Problem recognition is the first variable affecting the formation of publics. Derived from Dewey's (1954) definition of publics, "problem recognition represents the extent to which a person recognizes that something is missing or indeterminant in a situation so that he stops to think about the situation" (Grunig, 1979, p. 742). The level of recognition of a problem helps determine if an individual will initiate interaction to find a solution. As a result, "problem recognition increases the probability that a



person will communicate about a situation and have a need for information about that situation" (Grunig, 1983, p. 10). Individuals recognize problems with a high or low intensity and hence engage in information seeking or information processing behaviors accordingly.

Constraint Recognition

Once problems are identified or presented to individuals, the presence or absence of obstacles will determine the execution of the solution (Grunig, 1976). This is characterized by the second variable under STP, constraint recognition. This variable "represents the extent to which a person perceives constraints in a situation that limit his freedom to plan and carry out his own behavior" (Grunig, 1983, p. 10). The degree of freedom possessed by individuals while implementing solution-steps will determine whether they partake in information seeking or processing behaviors. Individuals perceiving low amounts of constraints are likely to seek active engagement, while individuals who perceive high constraints are likely to process information as it is presented to them.

Communication Behaviors

Combinations of high and low problem recognition help classify four situations which help "identify publics that exhibit similar communication behaviors" (Grunig, 1983, p. 10). These behaviors are as follows: problem-facing behavior (high problem recognition/low constraint recognition), constrained behavior (high problem recognition/high constraint recognition), routine behavior (low problem recognition/low constraint recognition), and fatalistic behavior (low problem recognition/high constraint recognition). These classifications facilitate a typology of perceived communication situations, which can assist in improving PR efforts. This typology is summarized in Table 1.



Table 1
Typology of Publics based on Communication Behavior

Behavior	Problem Recognition	Constraint Recognition	Level of Involvement	Type of Public
Problem Facing Behavior	High	Low	High Low	Active Aware
Constrained Behavior	High	High	High Low	Active Latent/Aware
Routine Behavior	Low	Low	High Low	Active/Latent None/Latent
Fatalistic Behavior	Low	High	High Low	Latent None

Level of Involvement

The first two variables predict if individuals will engage in a situation, but do not clarify to what extent that engagement will take place. This is predicted using the third independent variable, individuals' level of involvement (Grunig, 1976). The theory is situational in nature because it argues that publics will address different problems in different ways. Grunig (1983) explained that the level of involvement "is the extent to which a person perceives a connection between himself and a situation" (p. 11). If people identify with a problem, they more likely to participate in information seeking behavior, and vice-versa. These three independent variables can be combined to create the four publics: active, aware, latent, and non-public. See Appendix A for information about the composition of publics based on the levels of independent variables.

Past Experiences

When audiences interact with a problem, they often refer to their past experiences to determine their course of action. The referent criterion variable accounts for these past experiences. This variable "exists when a person knows what to do in a situation. He might have knowledge or experience from similar situations. or he might have a goal, a solution, or evaluation (an attitude) which he carries from situation to situation" (Grunig, 1978, p. 111). If previous events do not provide a clue as to the actions to be undertaken in a situation, then individuals will seek to find new solutions. As a result, the presence of a referent criterion decreases the need for new information. STP research over the years has eliminated the referent criterion from consideration in research, no definite reasons have been provided. Despite this exclusion, the other three variables predict the composition of publics accurately. The first goal of this study is to examine the difference in composition of publics based on exposure to different media containing messages about SGA. In order to do so, the study utilizes the MRT.

Media Richness Theory

Lengel and Daft (1988) proposed that different media have different characteristics and have a varied capacity to convey messages to a target audience. An examination of these characteristics and capacities led to the inception of MRT. Jourdan (2006) explained that original propositions regarding media characteristics was extended to include the idea that, "selecting an appropriate medium can reduce uncertainty in communication" (p. 52). This focus on uncertainty led to the two key components of the theory: media richness and equivocality.

Media Richness

According to Daft, Lengel, and Trevino (1987), "media can be characterized as high or low in 'richness' based on their capacity to facilitate meaning" (p. 358). Researchers have



operationalized this capacity by examining "a medium's ability to convey (a) quick feedback, (b) personal focus, (c) multiple communication cues, and (d) language variety" (p. 305). These degree of change in media along the lines of these characteristics determines whether a certain medium is rich or lean. Daft and Lengel (1986) placed various media on a continuum based on their levels of richness. Previous research has established that face-to-face communication is the richest of media because it can convey complex information with relative ease. On the other hand, spreadsheets, press releases, and departmental memos are examples of lean media because their capacity to communicate information is constrained. (Daft & Lengel, 1986; Kelleher, 2001; D'Urso & Rains, 2008; Tseng, Cheng, Kai, & Teng, 2017). These research studies demonstrated that different media are appropriate to communicate messages in different situations. MRT adds to these findings by explaining which media function well with which type of message, leading to a conversation about equivocality.

Equivocality

Lengel and Daft (1986) posited that media used to deliver messages could be determined by the demand for information created by the message. Some messages are equivocal in nature, in that they have multiple interpretations, other messages have unequivocal, singular meanings (Daft & Lengel, 1983). MRT posits that using rich media is necessary to convey equivocal messages because these contain multifaceted information (Kelleher, 2001). Conversely, lean media can be used to convey direct, straightforward information, which is not open to interpretation (Dennis & Kinney, 1988). As summarized by Kelleher (2001) "given these conceptual definitions of richness and equivocality, the central hypothesis of media richness theory becomes obvious. People are more likely to select richer media to handle information tasks that they perceive to be more equivocal" (p. 306). This discussion of media richness and



equivocality can help us understand the nature of media used by SGAs to convey information to students.

Emphasis on Media Over Message

This study seeks to examine how student publics react to different PR materials used by SGAs. These PR materials comprise of different media (e.g., posters, videos, podcasts, emails, and face-to-face communication), as well as different messages (e.g., elections, participation, general information, meeting information). This research prioritizes an examination of media over message for several reasons. First, message composition varies by target audience. When developing PR materials, organizations strive to consider target audience. Philipsen (1997) posited the Speech Codes Theory to explain how members of a community develop verbal and nonverbal language when conversing among each other and with outsiders. Different organizations communicate their needs to different audiences differently. Examining the message over the medium would be beneficial if a researcher sought to understand and explain the effectiveness of PR messages in a context. For instance, SGAs in one university might communicate with their constituents using university-specific codes. However, the media used to convey the message are similar across SGAs. The purpose of this study is to examine and predict if the media itself is effective in communicating the message. The volatility of the message makes it tougher to examine its effectiveness using quantitative means for the purpose of generalizability. Hence, this research prioritizes media over message.

Criticisms of MRT

One of the most common criticisms of MRT pertains to user choice in selecting the media to consume information. Walther and Parks (2002) state that prior studies on MRT have failed for this reason:



Despite media richness theory's problems, it is also apparent that the research to date has not directly tested the underlying claim of the theory. The fundamental claim is that if users select richer media for equivocal messages, then their efficiency will be greater. Researchers who have asked respondents what they might use or have assigned users to tasks and media in order to assess perceptions or effectiveness have not addressed that proposition...The basic proposition remains untested. (p. 534)

While past research has focused on the richness of the media, few studies have examined the role of user choice. Walther and Parks (2002) are correct – MRT does not focus on user choice, however, this drawback does not affect our examination. As will be clarified in the methods section, participants in the study will be randomly presented with one of three media as stimulus. Since participants are not seeking the media, this criticism does not impede the ensuing research.

SGAs and Public Relations

SGAs use rich and lean media to increase student engagement. In an increasingly online world, students are informed about activities on campus through a variety of means including but not limited to emails, social media posts, and Facebook Live videos. These media are used in conjunction with traditional posters and face-to-face communication. An understanding of the way in which members of different publics interact with different media would provide significant insight into the effectiveness of PR practices employed by SGAs.

Werder (2006) examined the influence of activism messages on STP. These messages were created using Hazleton and Long's (1988) public relations process model. Werder's research revealed a connection between goal compatibility and STP. Lee, Oshita, Oh, and Hove (2014) researched the STP with Noelle-Neuman's (1974) spiral of silence theory to examine "people's willingness to express their evaluative and normative opinions about an issue and its



possible solutions" (p. 190). Major (1998) studied STP through the effects of participant responses to disaster prediction on the composition of publics. Research has yet to be conducted to examine the effect of different media on composition of publics. Hence, evaluating the effectiveness of the media used by SGAs is warranted. As a result, the researcher proposes the following hypotheses:

H1: Problem recognition will be higher after participant interaction with moderate media (Facebook Live) than participant interaction with the lean media (Poster).

H2: Level of involvement will be higher after participant interaction with moderate media (Facebook Live) than participant interaction with the lean media (Poster).

H3: Constraint recognition will be higher after participant interaction with moderate media (Facebook Live) than participant interaction with the lean media (Poster).

H4: The difference in posttest and pretest scores will be higher for participants exposed to moderate media (Facebook Live) compared to participants exposed to lean media (Poster).

Factors Influencing Behavior

PR materials are meant to increase awareness about a topic, either through providing information or by inciting participation. The persuasiveness of messages depends on internal (cognitive) and external (situational) factors. Ajzen and Fishbein's (1980) Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) predicts participant involvement after the consumption of a persuasive message. TPB states that individuals act in a situation based on their perceptions of three variables: control, normative, and behavioral beliefs. Constraint recognition and control beliefs are similar variables in that they both measure the impediments to implementing a behavior. But the impact of normative and behavioral beliefs on the composition of publics has yet to be examined.



Perceptions of Social Norms

Ajzen (2012) explained that normative beliefs refer to the "expectations and actions of important referents and motivation to comply with these referents" (p. 18). Essentially, individuals act based on the way people close to them perceive a certain situation or event. As Marcinkowski and Metag (2014) clarified, "individual's behavioral intention is determined by his perception that people who are important to him support his performance of the given behavior" (p. 154). Societal norms seem to influence peer participation in student organizations as well. Juvonen, Espinoza, and Knifsend (2012) posited that "the role of friends seems to be especially important in encouraging continued involvement, potentially even when individual interest in the activity itself has waned" (p. 391). This effect seems to extend to SGAs as well. Laosebikan-Buggs (2009) conducted qualitative interviews with students involved in SGAs. Once participant claimed that he had "few friends involved in student government indicating that peer influence was as major motivating factor in his involvement" (p. 113). Since student involvement can be influenced by societal norms, it is imperative we examine how they influence the classification of publics.

Self-Efficacy

As Juvonen et al. (2012) stated, societal norms can influence human behavior even when individual interest in a behavior has declined. One predictor of individual interest in executing a specific behavior is efficacy. Both STP and TPB contend that beliefs about the degree of presence or absence of constraints will direct individuals' behaviors. Whether individuals believe they can implement a solution, and whether that solution will be effective can impact the perceived degree of constraints. The latter concept, termed as self-efficacy by Bandura (1991) refers to "people's beliefs about their capabilities to exercise control over their own level of



functioning and over events that affect their lives" (p. 257). Student engagement is predicated on the concept of self-efficacy. Lam, Wong, Yang, and Liu (2012) examined the role of contextual factors influencing student engagement. Their research revealed that "the more the students believed that they were capable of successfully performing the course of action that would lead to success, the more they were engaged affectively, behaviorally, and cognitively in school" (p. 413). Since student engagement is associated with perceptions of self-efficacy, it is imperative to include it in our analysis. The degree of perceived self-efficacy could increase or decrease the degree of constraint recognition, impacting the consumption of persuasive messages.

Response Efficacy

The second factor influencing the perceptions of constraints regarding the effectiveness of the solutions implemented to solve problems. The Extended Parallel Process Model (EPPM) explains whether individuals will engage in solutions when presented with messages containing fear appeals (Witte, 1992). Persuasive messages containing fear appeals are often used in behavioral change interventions. EPPM employs a response-efficacy measure to examine the effectiveness of these messages. Witte (1992) explained that "response efficacy refers to an individual's beliefs as to whether a response effectively prevents the threat" (p. 332). PR materials created by SGAs to increase involvement are often persuasive, but do not always contain fear appeals. Yet, the attempt to increase engagement with SGAs is an attempt to change student behavior. The perception of SGAs as effective solution mechanisms could predict whether students interact with the organization. As a result, it is imperative to include the variable in our analysis.

RQ1: What is the relationship between participant perception of problem recognition and self-efficacy, response-efficacy, and perception of social norms?



RQ2: What is the relationship between participant perception of level of involvement and self-efficacy, response-efficacy, and perception of social norms?

RQ3: What is the relationship between participant perception of constraint recognition and self-efficacy, response-efficacy, and perception of social norms?



CHAPTER III: METHODS

The following chapter outlines the procedures which will be used to gather the data for this study and the methods to be used to analyze the collected data. This chapter also describes the measures that will be used to collect the data.

Participants and Procedure

After IRB approval, approximately 105 students from a large-sized Midwestern university were recruited to participate in an online Qualtrics survey. According to Dominelli (2003), online surveys serve several benefits. To begin, surveys provide access to a large sample, even if participants are interested "in very narrow topic domains" (p. 411). Surveys also have quicker distribution and response times. Finally, a researcher can pre-code responses to facilitate ease of analysis. Participants were recruited using a research board for the students in the School of Communication and a campus-wide Listserv. This sample size is appropriate to reach a power level of .80 to achieve a medium effect size at p = .05 (Keppel & Wickens, 2004).

The sample was 83.8% White/Caucasian, 5.7% Black/African American, 3.8% Asian, 4.8% Hispanic/Latinx, 1.0% Pacific Islander, and 1% of the participant preferred to not identify their race. The sample was represented across college levels with 13.3% Freshmen, 11.4% Sophomores, 16.2% Juniors, 21.0% Seniors, 29.5% Graduate Students, 7.6% Doctoral Students, and 1.0% identifying as a faculty/staff at the university with a Masters' degree. The sex distribution for the sample was 78% Male, 24% Female and 82.9% Straight/Heterosexual. Sexual orientation across the sample was 4% Gay and Lesbian, 9% Bisexual, 1% Pansexual, and 2% preferred to not identify. Another 1.9% did not provide a response to the question.

Data were collected in this study to further two goals. To begin, the study sought to examine the effect of different media on the composition of publics. After taking a pretest with



statements about problem recognition, constraint recognition, and level of involvement, participants were exposed to either a Poster, a Facebook Live video, or an in-person conversation about SGAs. Participants then took a posttest which was identical to the pretest. The second goal of the study was to expand on STP. To this extent, the pretest also contained statements regarding self-efficacy, response-efficacy, and perceptions of social norms. These statements were not included in the posttest.

Research Design

Upon entering the survey, participants were presented with an informed consent form which contained information about the study and provided them with the choice to continue or discontinue with the survey. If participants declined or if they were not 18 years or older, the survey ended, and they were presented a message thanking them for their consideration to participate in the study. If participants met the age requirements, and agreed to participate, they were directed to the next page where they were asked to respond to measurements regarding the problem recognition, level of involvement, constraint recognition, self-efficacy, response-efficacy, and perceptions of social norms. Consequently, participants encountered either a Poster or a Facebook Live video containing information about SGA responsibilities and roles, as well as means to participate in SGA. After being exposed to one of the media, participants were asked to respond to scales about problem recognition, constraint recognition, and level of involvement once again. At the completion of the survey, the participants were directed to a page containing information about extra credit participation. All responses to the survey were anonymous.

Finally, participants were recruited for an in-person element of the study. These participants were given an informed consent form upon the initiation of the survey and their survey was assigned a four-digit code to maintain confidentiality. Consequently, they were



presented a paper copy of a survey where they responded to the same pretest statements as the ones in the Qualtrics survey. After completion of the pretest, the researcher delivered a scripted message containing the same information about SGAs as the Poster and the Facebook Live video. Participants then were provided the opportunity to ask questions about SGA participation, and the researcher responded. This Q&A was planned to last for approximately five minutes and audio was recorded. At the completion of the Q&A, the participants responded to statements about problem recognition, constraint recognition, and level of involvement. The participants were then thanked for their involvement, and they were given a form containing information about extra credit participation. The required number of participants could not be recruited for the in-person condition due to the implementation of social distancing resulting from the Coronavirus Disease – 19 (COVID-19); hence this condition was eliminated from the study.

Measures

Problem Recognition

Measures for problem recognition, constraint recognition, and level of involvement were based scales used by Voss (2009) to examine public perception of reclaimed water. Problem recognition was measured across the following three items: "I do not think that low participation with SGA is a problem on my campus," "I believe that there is a problem with low participation with the SGA on my campus," and "I recognize there is a serious problem with participation with the SGA on my campus." Participants were asked to respond to these items on a seven-point scale ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 7 (Strongly Agree). Item 1 was reverse coded. The pretest reliability was .64 and posttest reliability was .65.



Level of Involvement

Level of involvement was to be measured across four items: "I am involved with the SGA on my campus," "I have no involvement with the SGA on my campus," "I have strong opinions about student participation with the SGA on my campus," and "I am informed about student participation with the SGA on my campus." Participants were asked to respond to these items on a seven-point scale ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 7 (Strongly Agree). The last item was eliminated from consideration because of a clerical error while entering the statement in Qualtrics, resulting in a three-item measure. The pretest reliability was .82 and posttest reliability was .76.

Constraint Recognition

Constraint recognition was measured across the following three items: "I do not understand issues related to participation with the SGA on my campus," "There are obstacles that prevent me from understanding problems about participation with the SGA on my campus," and "I do not have the ability to influence decisions related to participation with the SGA on my campus." Participants were asked to respond to these items on a seven-point scale ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 7 (Strongly Agree). The pretest reliability was .50 and posttest reliability was .50.

Self-Efficacy

Measures for perceived self-efficacy and perceived response-efficacy were based on Witte, Cameron, McKeon, and Berkowitz's (1996) Risk Behavior Diagnosis Scale. Perceived self-efficacy was measured through four items. Participants were asked to respond to these items on a seven-point scale ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 7 (Strongly Agree). The measures for self-efficacy operationalized participation in SGA to obtain a direct response from



participants. The four items were: "I can easily attend an SGA meeting on my campus.," "I have the time to attend an SGA meeting on my campus," "I have the ability to contact a student representative to find more information about SGA," and "I have the ability to attend an SGA meeting on my campus." The reliability for the self-efficacy measure was .79.

Response Efficacy

Perceived response-efficacy was measured on a four-item, seven-point scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). The measures for response-efficacy operationalized SGA duties and responsibilities to obtain a direct response from participants. The four items were: "I believe that SGA programming improves student life on my campus," "I believe that SGA programming improves student life on my campus," "I believe that SGA effectively advocates for students on my campus," and "I believe that SGA works with students on my campus to refer them to appropriate office for additional help." The reliability for the response efficacy measure was .85.

Perceptions of Social Norms

Measures for norms were developed based on the scale used by Courneya, Bobick, and Schinke (1999) to measure norms surrounding exercise behaviors. Perceptions of norms were measured across three items on a seven-point scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). The three items are: "Most people who are important to me would encourage me to participate with the SGA on my campus," "Most people who are important to me would think I should participate with the SGA on my campus.," and "Most people who are important to me would support me participating with the SGA on my campus." The reliability for perceptions of social norms was .82.



Figure A-1 in the Appendix reflects the Poster design. A link to the Facebook Live can be found on *YouTube* (Patel, 2020). The script for the in-person conversation about SGA is as follows:

Student Government Associations, also known as SGAs, are comprised of student-leaders, which serve as a representative body to bring the voice of students to university administration, faculty, and staff, and state legislators. SGAs also allocate student fee funds to campus facilities, such as the Rec, and many student organizations including Greek Life, club sports, and academic and professional organizations. SGAs can help you with several problems including but not limited to those regarding parking, dining, academics, or involvement across campus. SGA elections are conducted in the Spring, and meetings are held every Monday at 7 pm in the Jackson Ballroom. The meeting starts with a public forum where students can voice their opinions, comments, or concerns. To learn more about SGAs please visit the main office in the Student Union.

Data Analysis

A series of paired and independent sample *t*-tests were conducted using SPSS to test the hypotheses. Alpha was set at .05. Hypotheses 1-3 examined the difference in problem recognition, level of involvement, and constraint recognition from pretest to posttest between participants exposed to the moderate media (Facebook Live) and lean media (Poster). A paired samples *t*-test was used for this examination. By comparing the pretest-posttest means and standard deviations of the dependent variable, the paired samples *t*-test allows researchers to "know if the difference is real or simply due to chance," making it appropriate for this analysis (Keyton, 2011, p. 211). The fourth hypothesis sought to test the degree of difference between the pretest and posttest in the two media conditions. In an independent samples *t*-test, "a participant



cannot be identified with both categories of the independent variable" (Keyton, 2011, p. 210). Participants in this study were exposed to either a moderate media (Facebook Live) or a lean media (Poster) condition. Since the independent samples *t*-test facilitates an understanding of the degree of difference between the two conditions, it served as an appropriate method for data analysis.

Three research questions were asked to examine the relationship between self-efficacy, response-efficacy, perceptions of social norms and problem recognition, constraint recognition, and level of involvement. Since the measures for all the variables are continuous, multiple linear regressions were used to analyze data. Multiple regressions allow "a researcher to test for a significant relationship between the dependent variable and multiple independent variables separately and as a group" (Keyton, 2011, p. 233). There are several benefits of using multiple regressions. According to Keyton (2011), the value of R resulting from the multiple regression helps succinctly summarize the relationships between independent and dependent variables. However, the degree to which these variables are related is unclear but the value of R^2 , "provides the proportion of variance explained or accounted for on the dependent variable by the independent variable" (p. 232). Additionally, the value of the beta weight, indicated by β , assists in the understanding of the degree to which these variables influence each other.



CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

Results

The first hypothesis predicted that participants in the moderate media condition (Facebook Live) will report higher pretest-to-posttest means on the problem recognition measure compared to participants in the lean media condition (Poster). Results of the paired samples t-test revealed a statistically significant pre- to posttest difference on problem recognition in the moderate media condition. For this condition (Facebook Live), there was a statistically significant difference from the pretest (M = 4.12) to the posttest (M = 4.68), t(44) = -2.98, p < 0.05. A paired samples t-test revealed no difference between the pretest (M = 4.26) and posttest (M = 4.40) in the lean media (Poster) condition, t(43) = -1.33, p > 0.05 Descriptive statistics for the first hypothesis can be found in Table 2.

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics for Within Group Analyses for Problem Recognition

Condition		Pretest			Posttest	
Colluition	n	M	SD	n	M	SD
Moderate Media (Facebook Live)	45	4.12	1.13	45	4.46	1.14
Poster (Lean Media)	44	4.26	1.21	44	4.40	1.17

The second hypothesis predicted that level of involvement will be higher after participant interaction with moderate media (Facebook Live) than participant interaction with the lean media (Poster). The moderate media (Facebook Live) condition saw a statistically significant difference from the pretest (M = 2.50) to the posttest (M = 2.81), t(45) = -2.27, p < 0.05. A paired samples t-test revealed no difference between the pretest (M = 2.82) and posttest (M = 3.00) for the lean



media (Poster) condition, t(42) = -1.30, p > 0.05. Descriptive statistics for the second hypothesis can be found in Table 3.

Table 3

Descriptive Statistics for Within Group Analyses for Level of Involvement

Condition	Pretest			Posttest		
Condition	n	M	SD	n	M	SD
Moderate Media (Facebook Live)	46	2.50	1.31	46	2.81	1.37
Poster (Lean Media)	43	2.82	1.67	43	3.00	1.60

The third hypothesis stated that means for the constraint recognition measure will be higher after participant interaction with moderate media (Facebook Live) than participant interaction with the lean media (Poster). The lean media (Poster) condition saw a higher increase from pretest (M = 3.84) to the posttest (M = 4.28), t(43) = -3.18, p < 0.05 compared to the moderate media (Facebook Live) condition, pretest (M = 3.83) to the posttest (M = 4.18), t(46) = -2.17, p < 0.05. Descriptive statistics for the third hypothesis can be found in Table 4.

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics for Within Group Analyses for Constraint Recognition

Condition	Pretest			Posttest		
Condition	n	M	SD	n	M	SD
Moderate Media (Facebook Live)	47	3.80	.85	47	4.18	.87
Poster (Lean Media)	44	3.85	1.00	44	4.29	.80

The fourth hypothesis stated that moderate media (Facebook Live) will reflect a higher change in problem recognition, and level of involvement, but a lower change in constraint recognition compared to the lean media condition (Poster). In order to analyze differences between the groups, I first computed difference scores by subtracting the pretest mean from the posttest mean for each of the dependent variables. Independent samples t-tests revealed no differences between the groups for problem recognition [t(87) = -1.33, p = 0.187], level of involvement [t(87) = -.61, p > 0.05], or constraint recognition [t(89) = .44, p > 0.05]. As a result, hypothesis four was not supported. Descriptive statistics for the fourth hypothesis can be found in Table 5.

Table 5

Descriptive Statistics for Between Groups Analyses by Manipulation Condition

Variable	Moderate Media (Facebook Live)			Lean Media (Poster)			
_	n	М	SD	n	М	SD	
Problem Recognition	45	.34	.76	44	.68	.10	
Level of Involvement	46	.30	.91	43	.19	.94	
Constraint Recognition	47	.35	1.1	44	.44	.91	

A stepwise multiple linear regression was calculated to find the amount of problem recognition predicted by self-efficacy, response-efficacy, and perception of social norms. Descriptive statistics for the regression analyses can be found in Table 6, and correlations between all variables can be found in Table 7. Results of the regression analysis, F(1,100) = 28.46, p < .05, indicated that the model significantly predicted problem recognition. Specifically, the results indicated that perceptions of social norms accounted for 21% of the variance in problem recognition, ($\beta = .36$, t(101) = 5.33, p < .05). Self-efficacy and response-efficacy were

not significant predictors of problem recognition. Information regarding beta coefficients for problem recognition can be found in Table 8.

Table 6

Descriptive Statistics for Independent and Predictor Variables in Regressions

Variable	n	M	SD
Problem Recognition	103	4.19	1.20
Level of Involvement	103	2.71	1.62
Constraint Recognition	105	3.84	0.99
Self-Efficacy	105	4.02	1.39
Response Efficacy	104	4.55	1.26
Perceptions of Social Norms	105	3.84	1.58

Table 7

Pearson Correlations for all Variables

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Problem Recognition	-	.40	.28	.27	.29	.47
2. Level of Involvement	.40	-	.43	.56	.43	.46
3. Constraint Recognition	.28	.43	-	.35	.37	.29
4. Self-Efficacy	.27	.56	.35	-	.52	.55
5. Response Efficacy	.29	.43	.37	.52	-	.57
6. Perceptions of Social Norms	.47	.46	.29	.55	.57	-

Note: p < .01 for all correlations

Table 8

Beta Weights for Problem Recognition

Variable		В	SE B	β
Social Norms		0.359	0.067	0.471
	R^2		0.222	
	R^2_{adj}		0.214	
	F		28.466	

The second research question sought to calculate the amount of level of involvement predicted by self-efficacy, response-efficacy, and perception of social norms. Results of a stepwise multiple linear regression, F(2,99) = 34.83, p < .05, indicated that the model significantly predicted level of involvement. Specifically, the results indicated that self-efficacy accounted for 32.1% of the variance in level of involvement, ($\beta = .42$, t(101) = 3.99, p < .05), and perceptions of social norms accounted for 9.2% of the variance in level of involvement, ($\beta = .37$, t(101) = 3.93, p < .05). Information regarding beta coefficients for level of involvement can be found in Table 9.

Table 9

Beta Weights for Level of Involvement

Variable	В	SE B	β
Self-Efficacy	0.427	0.107	0.368
Perceptions of Social Norms	0.372	0.090	0.362
R^2		0.413	
R^2_{adj}		0.401	
<i>F</i>		34.830	

The third research question was to determine the amount of constraint recognition predicted by self-efficacy, response-efficacy, and perception of social norms. Results of a stepwise multiple linear regression, F(2,103) = 10.88, p < .05, indicated that the model significantly predicted constraint recognition. Specifically, the results indicated that response-efficacy accounted for 13.4% of the variance in constraint recognition, ($\beta = .20$, t(103) = 2.47, p < .05), and self-efficacy accounted for 2.7% of the variance in constraint recognition, ($\beta = 0.15$, t(103) = 2.06, p < .05). Information regarding beta coefficients for constraint recognition can be found in Table 10.

Table 10

Beta Weights for Constraint Recognition

Variable		В	SE B	β
Response Efficacy		0.205	0.083	0.262
Self-Efficacy		0.155	0.075	0.219
	R^2		0.177	
K	R^2_{adj}		0.161	
	$\boldsymbol{\mathit{F}}$		10.880	

The next section of the document includes a discussion regarding the theoretical and practical implications of the results, the limitations of the study, and directions for future research. The study concludes with a summary of the project.



CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

Implications

This study reinforces certain notions about MRT and proposes potential extensions to STP. The framework of publics was used to examine whether participant perceptions of problem recognition, level of involvement, and constraint recognition changed after being exposed to a lean media (Poster) and moderate media (Facebook Live). The hypotheses were predicated on the fact that a significant change in the degree of problem recognition, level of involvement, and constraint recognition, from the pretest to the posttest would result in different compositions of publics. The content in the two media conditions were the same, while the method of delivery was different. Yet, the levels of these independent variables changed from pretest to posttest.

Problem Recognition

Participant perception of problem recognition witnessed a statistically significant increase after interaction with a moderate media (Facebook Live). Problem recognition is closely tied with awareness about issues. Grunig (1976) explained "people do not attempt to change the direction of their movements except in a situation that is problematic to them" (p. 4). SGAs need to employ messaging which conveys the types of problems which the organization can address because "no problem can be resolved until it has been recognized" (Keil, Depledge, & Rai, 2007, p. 398). In this study, the poster stated, "SGA helps solve student concerns and provides funding for student organizations. Common concerns include food at the dining center and on-campus parking." The Facebook Live on the other hand, provided a space for elaboration, with the use of nonverbal cues, verbal emphasis on certain words, and the use of immediacy behaviors. While these factors were not studied in this research, they could lead to an increase in problem recognition.



Constraint Recognition

Combinations of high or low problem recognition and high or low constraint recognition help predict the type of communication behavior undertaken by publics (Grunig, 1976). There was a greater increase in constraint recognition from the pretest to the posttest in the lean media condition (Poster) compared to moderate media (Facebook Live). The limited capacity of lean media conveys information which makes it easier for receiver to consume the content. However, lean media do not provide opportunity for immediate feedback or clarification (Jourdan, 2006). The Poster explained that SGA meetings are 90 minutes long, and that they are held at 7 p.m. on a Monday night. This information might have contributed to an increase in constrain recognition for the poster condition.

Level of Involvement

Problem recognition and constraint recognition help explain "why a person communicates or does not communicate," while level of involvement explains, "whether that behavior will be active information seeking or information processing" (Grunig, 1979, p. 743). If individuals perceive the message to be important to them, they are likely to become involved with an organization. Conversely, if individuals consume information, they do not engage in action. The moderate media condition (Facebook Live) witnessed a slight increase in level of involvement from the pretest to the posttest. Low participation in SGAs is well documented. Constraints such as time, disinterest in civic engagement might result in this low participation (Verba et al.., 1995). Despite participant perception of these constraints, rich media seem to be more effective than lean media in increasing involvement.



Perceptions of Social norms and STP

Problem recognition, constraint recognition, and level of involvement assist in determining the type of public and the corresponding communication behavior. This research sought to expand STP by examining the influence of perceptions of social norms, self-efficacy, and response efficacy on problem recognition, level of involvement, and constraint recognition. Results revealed that participant perception of social norms had a statistically significant impact on problem recognition and level of involvement. Juvonen, Espinoza, and Knifsend (2012) affirmed, "students with friends who are highly involved in extracurricular activities are more likely to participate in activities themselves" (p. 391). The authors also further that peer perceptions can lead to a positive or negative sense of school belonging, which is a significant predictor of student engagement. Umbach and Wawrzynski (2005) and Towler (2010) add that teachers' perceptions of engagement also influences student beliefs. For instance, if a professor believes SGAs to be ineffective, and passes that thought onto a student, the student is less likely to become involved in the organization. As Hu and Kuh (2002) added, teachers need to contextualize academic content in relation to practical engagement, to encourage student participation. Changing social norms requires changing individual perceptions, which is easier said than done. An examination of self-efficacy and response efficacy acts as a springboard for impacting this change.

Self-Efficacy and STP

Self-efficacy was a significant predictor for level of involvement and constraint recognition. Self-efficacy was measured by asking participants if they had the time and the ability to attend an SGA meeting or contact an SGA representative with relative ease.

Participating in SGAs requires initiative-taking as well as interest in the organization. Lam,



Wong, Yang, and Liu (2012) explained, "the more the students believed that they were capable of successfully performing the course of action that would lead to success, the more they were engaged affectively, behaviorally, and cognitively in school" (p. 413). As SGAs promote their organizations, it is imperative they include information which makes students believe that they can impact change on campus. SGA efforts to increase self-efficacy could include testimonials where student leaders share their experiences with the process of starting to participate in student government, and their consequent efforts in creating change on campus. While self-efficacy impacts level of involvement and constraint recognition, the direction of this relationship needs to be examined.

Response Efficacy and STP

Perceptions of response efficacy only predicted constraint recognition. However, the relationship between the two is well documented in the literature. Witte (1992) explained that response efficacy is the belief whether a solution will be effective in resolving an issue. Constraint recognition is the degree to which individuals perceive obstacles to achieve a goal (Grunig, 1978). This concept is similar to perceived behavioral control, the belief "about resources and obstacles that can facilitate or interfere with performance of a given behavior" (Ajzen, 2012, p. 18). To increase participation, SGAs need to develop PR materials which portray the organization as an effective mechanism for solving problems.

Limitations

Ecological Validity

The first limitation of the study concerns the presentation of the media itself. Breau and Brook (2007) defined ecological validity as, "the degree of similarity between the conditions of a simulation experiment and the real-world phenomenon that the experiment is designed to model" (p. 3). The Poster was presented to the participants online, but in real-life individuals are likely to



view posters on bulletin boards or walls in hallways. Gehrke (2013) clarified that "ecological validity is not an all-or-nothing standard, but like other forms of validity, an objective toward which researchers strive" (p. 11). Future research could incorporate a digital photograph of a poster on a wall to increase ecological validity in the situation.

The Facebook Live is accompanied by some ecological concerns as well. To being with, the video did not represent an actual Facebook Live in that it did not have the Live frame, the interaction ribbon at the bottom, or real-time comments. However, the video did maintain ecological validity by including naturally occurring environmental factors. The Live video was recorded outdoors, on a windy day. At times, the speaker in the video is hard to hear. However, this limitation was reduced by the addition of subtitles. Considerations of ecological validity are imperative to ensure generalization of results.

COVID-19 and Face-to-Face Condition

Gehrke (2013) examined the role of ecological validity in public engagement research, and explained "if the goal is to actually engage publics, not merely to observe them in their pristine state, we presume that engagement not only brings something to publics but, hopefully, also returns with something from those publics" (p. 11). The original design for this study included a face-to-face manipulation condition, as a form of rich medium of information delivery. Unfortunately, the data collection for this condition was halted because of the social distancing protocols enforced during the COVID-19 outbreak. This condition would have allowed for a more dynamic and organic conversation regarding SGAs. The absence of immediate feedback witnessed in the lean and moderate media conditions would not have been a problem in this rich media condition. Recruiting additional participants might have resulted in more significant results as well.



Participant Demographics

A total of 105 participants were recruited to participate in the Qualtrics survey. 83.8% of participants identified as White/Caucasian, 82.9% identified as Straight/Heterosexual, and 78% identified as Males. As of Fall 2019 American higher education was comprised of approximately 10.5 million White students, and nearly 9.4 million students of color. 11.3 million of these students are female, while 8.6 million identify as male (National Center for Education Statistics, 2020). This predominantly white, straight, male sample reduces the generalizability of the results. Lawless and Fox (2013) conducted a study to examine the factors driving female college students' participation in politics. Their research revealed that "respondents who ran for student government during college were seven times more likely than their peers who had not run, to articulate plans for a political career" (p. 9). SGAs provide a safe, low-risk environment for women to run for office. While this study does not make any gender-based claims, attempts to research mechanisms to increase female student participation could potentially help level the political playing field on a local, state, and national level.

Low Reliabilities

The measures for problem recognition and constraint recognition reflected reliabilities lower than the conventionally acceptable Cronbach's alpha of .70. Keyton (2011) explained that low reliabilities of a measure could be a result of several factors external to the study. In this study, participant perceptions about SGAs might have resulted in a lower alpha for problem recognition and constraint recognition. The measure for problem recognition included an item, "I recognize there is a serious problem with recognition with participation with the SGA on my campus". This item was based on scales used by Voss (2009). However, participants could have perceived that low participation in SGA as a problem, but not a serious problem. This might have



led to confusion regarding the item itself. The measure for constraint recognition contained an item, "I do not understand issues related to participation with the SGA on my campus". Perhaps, being presented with specific issues related to participation with SGAs might have improved the reliability of this measure.

Directions for Future Research

Communicative Behaviors and Media

Participants in this study were presented with information about SGAs, they did not have the opportunity to seek it out. Ecologically, the study needs to be contextualized in terms of information processing behaviors. Grunig (1979) explained that information processing behaviors are passive communicative behaviors, such as watching television advertisements or reading a magazine article in a waiting room. STP explains that participants indulging in information seeking behaviors are more likely to actively communicate regarding problems. The relationship between type of media and type of communicative behavior is especially important to research regarding PR and marketing. Organizations engage in messaging with an intent to increase active interaction with their content, whether it informs individuals about a service or persuades consumers to purchase a product. MRT explains that lean media can be used for unequivocal messages, whereas rich media needs to be employed for equivocal messages. Future research could consider the impact of media richness on communicative behaviors.

Civic Engagement

Several typologies of engagement are available in extant research. Finn and Zimmer (2012) posited two types of engagement, affective and behavioral, with the latter consisting of three parts - academic, social, and cognitive engagement. Keeter, Zukin, Andolona, and Jenkins (2002) proposed 19 indicators for civic engagement, which encompass actions such as voting



and protesting. These typologies of civic engagement could be examined in relation with media to determine methods to increase participation. Student preference and interest in various engagement styles could be researched to develop university-specific programs for engagement. Additionally, Verba et al. (1995) explained that resources such as time, psychological engagement, and lack of access to civic engagement structures, affect engagement as well. The specific impact of these resources, in context of SGAs, can help better understand the current lack of participation. Kuh, Cruse, Shoup, and Kinzie (2008) added that institutional commitment is as important as student initiative in increasing civic engagement. May (2010) explained that higher education institutions have been hesitant to give autonomy to student organizations. An examination of the nature of institutional commitment to civic engagement and SGAs, and the obstacles to achieving this commitment need to be examined to develop context-specific solutions for increasing engagement.

Temporal Examination

Hunt and Woolard (2016) succinctly stated, "civic education requires a long-term strategy" (p. 545). Referring to academic education regarding civic engagement, Colby, Beaumont, Ehrlich, and Corngold (2007) stated, "during a single course, it is not reasonable to expect students' political engagement will have a notable impact" (p. 151). A temporal analysis of participation in SGA, using STP and MRT might provide researchers an opportunity to track student participation over a longer time period. Attrition is an evident drawback of temporal analyses. However, in the context of political participation research, attrition can provide useful information. As Verba et a. (1995) explained, student impetus to participate in civic processes is driven by three factors: money, time, and perceptions of civic engagement. While SGAs assist in the development of academic and professional skills, the criticisms of SGAs need to be



examined more thoroughly. Future research should consider understanding whether SGAs lead to burnout or increase or decrease student participation over a time period. Such as study might reveal insights into participant motivation for engagement and obstacles which prevent engagement.

Social Media and Political Participation

Social media platforms provide an opportunity to reach mass audiences in a short period of time. Perrin and Anderson (2019) explained that Facebook, Twitter Instagram, and Snapchat are especially popular among individuals 18-24 years of age. Nearly 12.5 million students in higher ed are below the age of 25 (The National Center for Education Statistics, 2020). As reported by Cooper (2020) an average user spends 11.5 minutes/session on Facebook, 10.5 minutes/session on Twitter, 6.5 minutes/session on Instagram, and 30 minutes/day on the Snapchat. These three platforms provide resources to create and disseminate information using live streaming or video upload options. The amount of richness in these media allows SGAs, to reach target audiences to raise awareness about issues of concern, in a manner where the content is accessible and has high potential for engagement. Future research could conduct a study comparing the preferences, benefits, and drawbacks of different media in communicating political participation.

Student Participation and Twitter

The use of Twitter for social media marketing is both beneficial and dangerous. As Cooper (2020) explained the amount of time individuals spend on Twitter has witnessed an increase, which warrants its use as a medium for PR. However, Bratslavsky, Carpenter, and Zompetti (2019) explained that as a media, Twitter often allows the use of incivility as a strategy to convey information, which makes it a problematic tool for democratic governance.



Additionally, he 280-character limit for a tweet might lead to ambiguity, especially when conveying equivocal messages. Considering the unique nature of Twitter as a platform and the resulting misleading nature of its content, and its widespread use, a study focused on Twitter and student participation might reveal fascinating insights.

Students of Color and Underrepresented Groups

The participant demographics of the sample in the group were not reflective of the nationwide campus population. The sample in this study was 83.8% White/Caucasian and 78% Male, while the national averages are closer to 52% White/Caucasian and 43% Male (National Center for Education Statistics, 2020). The research was conducted at a Predominantly White Institution (PWI), which impacted the student participation. While nationwide statistics about sexual orientation are not readily available, it is likely that the sample in this study did not reflect the national student population averages. The role of students of color and underrepresented groups needs to be a part of future research regarding SGAs for several reasons.

Fry (2019) reported that women are on track to represent half of the college-educated workforce in the United States. Dougherty (2019) revealed that for the first time in 96 years, a trio of female students were elected to the executive branch of the SGA at Illinois State University. Georgetown University elected an all-female executive board in 2012, "a board that was dominated by men since 1969" (Mills, 2019). Lawless and Fox (2012) explained that participation in SGAs can increase future participation in civic processes. Hence, it is imperative to include them in future analyses.

Many state and national policies affect college campuses as well. In 2016, the state of South Dakota proposed House Bill 1008 which required "transgender students in South Dakota's public schools to use bathrooms, locker rooms and other facilities based on their gender at birth"



(Wagner & Chappell, 2016). This bill was then discussed in the Students' Association at South Dakota State University (SDSU). Wagner and Chappell (2016) added that the Students' Association at SDSU received feedback from the LGBTQ+ community on campus which made them lobby for the bill to be vetoed by the Governor. The bill was eventually vetoed, and the Governor explained that the voice of the Students' Association was a key factor in his decision making process (Bothelo & Drash, 2016). Similar to SDSU, SGAs across the nation might have an influence over legislative processes. Hence, a study focused on the opinions and perceptions of underrepresented groups toward SGAs might prove beneficial for increasing student representation.

Conclusion

The benefits of participation in SGAs are well documented. The low-risk, supervised environment provided by SGAs provides practical experience with civic engagement.

Participation in SGAs also provide several academic, professional, and social benefits. Despite clear advantages of engagement with SGAs, the study witnessed a steady decline in student participation. This study examined whether PR media used to convey information regarding participation could change the composition of student publics as explained in STP. The results revealed that media affect the composition of publics. As a result, SGAs need to use PR materials to raise awareness about the organization, about problems on campus, as well as processes for student initiative-taking. Additionally, STP variables were also affected by perceptions of social norms, self-efficacy, and response efficacy. SGAs can use various media to inform and persuade students to participate with the organization.



REFERENCES

- (2020). Back to school statistics. *National Center for Education Statistics*. Retrieved from: https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=372#College_enrollment
- Adler, R., & Goggin, J. (2005). What do we mean by "civic engagement"? *Journal of Transformative Education*, 3(3), 236-253. doi: 10.1177/1541344605276792
- Ajzen, I. (2012). Martin Fishbein's legacy: The reasoned action approach. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 640(1), 11-27. doi: 10.1177/0002716211423363
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). *Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Andrews, R. (2010). Argumentation in higher education: Improving practice through theory and research. Abingdon, U.K.: Routledge.
- Asbury, K. (2017, January 23). SGA hopes to increase voter turnout, student involvement. *The DA*. Retrieved from: https://www.thedaonline.com/news/sga-hopes-to-increase-voter-turnout-student-involvement/article_49f20a3a-e183-11e6-b3e2-c78e9dc9ae66.html
- Bandura, A. (1991). Social cognitive theory of self-regulation. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Process*, 50, 248-287. doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90022-L
- Blumer, H. (1948). Public opinion and public opinion polling. *American Sociological Review*, 13(5), 542-549. doi: 10.2307/2087146
- Bothelo, G., & Drash, W. (2016, March 2). South Dakota governor vetoes transgender bathroom bill. *CNN*. Retrieved from: https://www.cnn.com/2016/03/01/us/south-dakota-transgender-bathroom-bill/index.html



- Bratslavsky, L., Carpenter, N., & Zompetti, J. (2019, August 29). Twitter, incivility, and presidential communication: A theoretical incursion into spectacle and power. *Cultural Studies*. doi: 10.1080/09502386.2019.1656760
- Bray, D., Campbell, R., & Grant, D. (1974). Formative years in business: A long-term AT&T study of managerial lives. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Breau, D., & Brook, B. (2007). "Mock" mock juries: A field experiment on the ecological validity of jury simulations. *Law & Psychology Review*, 31, 77-92.
- Caple, R. (1998). *To mark the beginning: A social history of college student affairs*. American Lanham, MD: University Press of America, Inc.
- Carlton, W. (1907). College libraries in the mid-nineteenth century. *Library Journal*, 32(11), 479-486.
- Coates, A. & Coates, G. (1985). The story of student government in the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Chapel Hill, NC: Professor Emeritus Fund.
- Cohen, A. & Krisker, C. (2010). The shaping of American higher education: Emergence and growth of the contemporary system. San Francisco, CA: Wiley
- Colby, A., Beaumont, E., Ehrlich, T., & Corngold, J. (2007). Educating for democracy:

 *Preparing undergraduates for responsible political engagement. San Francisco, CA:

 Jossey-Bass.
- Cooper, P. (2020, February 20). 140+ social media statistics that matter to marketers in 2020.

 Hootsuite. Retrieved from: https://blog.hootsuite.com/social-media-statistics-for-social-media-managers/#instagram
- Coulter, E. (1979). *College life in the old south: As seen at the University of Georgia*. Athens: The University of Georgia Press.



- Courneya, K., Bobick, T., & Schinke, R. (1999). Does the theory of planned behavior mediate the relation between personality and exercise behavior? *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 21(4), 317-324. doi: 10.1207/S15324834BASP2104_5
- Daft, R., & Lengel, R. (1983). Information richness: A new approach to managerial behavior and organizational design. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *6*, 191–233. Retrieved from: https://apps.dtic.mil/dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/a128980.pdf
- Daft, R., & Lengel, R. (1986). Organizational information requirements, media richness, and structural design, *Management Science*, *32*(5), 554-571. Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/2631846
- Daft, R., Lengel, R., & Trevino, L. (1987). Message equivocality, media selection, and manager performance: Implications for information systems. *Management Information Systems Quarterly*, 11(3), 355-366. doi: 10.2307/248682
- Daprile, L. (2019, February 25). USC student government election could be the biggest in years, student president says. *The State*. Retrieved from:

 https://www.thestate.com/news/local/education/article226755919.html
- Dennis, A., & Kinney, S. (1988). Testing media richness theory in the new media: The effects of cues, feedback, and task equivocality. *Information Systems Research*, 9(3), 256-274. doi: 10.1287/isre.9.3.256
- Dewey, J. (1954). The Public and Its Problems. Athens, OH: Swallow Press.
- Dominelli, A. (2003). Web surveys Benefits and consideration. *Clinical Research and Regulatory Affairs*, 20(4), 409-416. doi: 10.1081/CRP-120026122



- Dougherty, A. (2019, April 3). Samiat Solebo heads newly elected SGA executive branch.

 Vidette Online. Retrieved from: http://www.videtteonline.com/news/samiat-solebo-heads-newly-elected-sga-executive-branch/article_bd6cdfea-5683-11e9-97d8-5ba2eebea92f.html
- D'Urso, S., & Rains, S. (2008). Examining the scope of channel expansion: A test of channel expansion theory with new and traditional communication media. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 21(4), 486-507. doi: 10.1177/0893318907313712
- Ellington, C. (2019, April 19). By approving racial quotas, University of Texas student government tells minorities they can't win elections. *The College Fix*. Retrieved from: https://www.thecollegefix.com/by-approving-racial-quotas-university-of-texas-student-government-tells-minorities-they-cant-win-elections/
- Finn, J. & Zimmer, K. (2012). Student engagement: What is it? Why does it matter? In S. Christenson, A. Reschly, C. Wylie (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Student Engagement* (pp. 387-401). Boston, MA: Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-2018-7
- Freeman, R. (2017). The relationship between extracurricular activities and academic achievement (Doctoral dissertation, National Louis University). Retrieved from: https://digitalcommons.nl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1254&context=diss
- Friedson, E., & Shuchman, H. (1955). Student government in American colleges. In E. Friedson (Ed.), *Student government, student leaders, and the American college* (pp. 3-28). Philadelphia, PA: United States National Student Association.
- Fry, R. (2019, June 20). U.S. women near milestone in the college-educated labor force. *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved from: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/06/20/u-s-women-near-milestone-in-the-college-educated-labor-force/



- Gehrke, P. (2013). Ecological validity and the study of publics: The case for organic public engagement methods. *Public Understanding of Science*, *0*(0), 1-15. doi: 10.1177/0963662513493575
- Gholson, R. (1985). Student achievement and cocurricular activity participation. *NASSP Bulletin*, 69(483), 17-20. doi: 10.1177/019263658506948304
- Giroux, H., & Myrsiades, K. (Eds.). (2001). *Beyond the corporate university: Culture and pedagogy in the new millennium*. Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Golden, D., & Schwartz, H. (1994). Building an ethical and effective relationship with student government leaders. In M. C. Terrell & M. J. Cuyjet (Eds.), *Developing student government leadership* (pp. 19-30). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Gordon, L. (1990). Gender and higher education in the Progressive era. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Grunig, J. (1976). Organizations and public relations: Testing a communication theory. *Journalism Monographs*, 45, 1-59.
- Grunig, J. (1978). Defining publics in public relations: The case of a suburban hospital. *Journalism and Mass Communication Quarterly*, 55(1), 109-124. doi: 10.1177/107769907805500115
- Grunig, J. (1979). A new measure of public opinions on corporate social responsibility. *Academy of Management Journal*, 22(4), 738-764. doi: 10.2307/255812
- Grunig, J. (1983). Communication behaviors and attitudes of environmental publics: Two studies. *Journalism Monographs*, 81, 1-47.



- Harding, T. (1959). College literary societies: Their contribution to the development of academic libraries, 1815-76: II. The decline of college society libraries, 1841-76. *The Library of Quarterly Information, Community, Policy,* (29)2. 94-112. Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/4304871
- Harris, M. & Dyer, G. (2006). Student judicial governance: History, issues, and recommendations for practice. In Miller, M. & Nadler, D. (Eds.), Student governance and institutional policy: Formation and implementation. In A. Jones (Ed.), *Educational policy in the 21st century: Opportunities, challenges, and solutions*. Greenwich, CT: Information Age Publishing.
- Hazelton, V., & Long, L. (1988). Concepts for public relations education, research, and practice:

 A communication point of view. *Central States Speech Journal*, 39(2), 77-87. doi:

 10.1080/10510978809363239
- Heyward, J. (2017, February 4). SGA discusses program to increase student participation. *The Huntington Times*. Retrieved from: https://huntnewsnu.com/46347/campus/sga-discusses-programs-to-increase-student-participation/
- Hu, S., & Kuh, G. (2002). Being (dis)engaged in educationally purposeful activities: The influences of student and institutional characteristics. *Research in Higher Education*, 43, 555-575. doi: 10.1023/A:1020114231387
- Hunt, S., & Woolard, C. (2016). Service learning and innovative pedagogies. In P. Witt (Ed.),Communication and learning: Handbooks of communication science. (pp. 527-551).Berlin, Germany: DeGruyter Mouton.



- Jackson, L. (2000). The rights of man and the rites of youth: Fraternity and riot at the eighteenth-century Harvard. In R. L. Geiger (Ed.), *The American college in the nineteenth century* (pp. 46-79). Nashville, TN: Vanderbilt University Press.
- Jourdan, J. (2006). Perceived presence in mediated communication: Antecedents and effects

 (Doctoral dissertation, The University of Texas at Austin). Retrieved from:

 https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/2893/jourdand58476.pdf?sequen

 ce=2&origin=publication_detail
- Junoven, J., Espinoza, G., & Knifsend, C. (2012). The role of peer relationships in student academic and extracurricular engagement. In S. Christenson, A. Reschly, C. Wylie (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Student Engagement*, (pp. 387-401). Boston, MA: Springer. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-2018-7
- Katz, J. (1968). *No time for youth: growth and constraint in college students*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Keil, M., Depledge, G., & Rai, A. (2007). Escalation: The role of problem recognition and cognitive bias. *Decision Sciences*, *38*(3), 391-421. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5915.2007.00164.x
- Keeter, S., Zukin, C., Andolina, M., & Jenkins, M. (2002). *The civic and political health of the nation: A generational portrait*. College Park, MD: Center for Information and Research on Civic Learning and Engagement (CIRCLE), School of Public Policy, University of Maryland
- Kelleher, T. (2001). Public relations roles and media choice. *Journal of Public Relations**Research, 13(4), 303-320. doi: 10.1207/S1532754XJPRR1304_02



- Keppel, G., & Wickens, T. (2004). *Design and analysis: A researcher's handbook*. London, U.K.: Pearson.
- Kerr, C. (1991). *The great transformation in higher education*. Albany, NY: State University of New York.
- Keyton, J. (2011). Communication research: Asking questions, finding answers. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Kezar, A. (2005). Promoting student success: The importance of shared leadership and collaboration. Bloomington, IN: National Survey of Student Engagement.
- Kuh, G., Cruce, T., Shoup, R., Kinzie J., & Goneya, R. (2008). Unmasking the effects of student engagement on first-year college grades and persistence. *Journal of Higher Education*, 79, 540-563. doi: 10.1353/jhe.0.0019
- Lam, S., Wong, B., Yang, H., & Liu, Y. (2012). Understanding student engagement with a contextual model. In S. Christenson, A. Reschly, C. Wylie (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Student Engagement* (pp. 403-419). Boston, MA: Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-2018-7
- Laosebikan-Buggs, M. (2006). The role of student government: Perceptions and expectations. In.M. Miller, & D. Nadler (Eds.) Student governance and institutional policy: Formation and implementation. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Laosebikan-Buggs, M. (2009). An investigation of the impact of student government involvement at one public historically Black university on the career choice of African American student participants. (Doctoral dissertation, Michigan State University). Retrieved from: https://d.lib.msu.edu/etd/2696/datastream/OBJ/download/The_influence_of_college_students__intensity_of_involvement_in_student_organizations_on_leadership_values.pdf



- Lawless, J., & Fox, R. (2013). Girls just wanna not run: The gender gap in young Americans' political ambition. *American University School of Public Affairs*. Retrieved from: https://www.american.edu/spa/wpi/upload/girls-just-wanna-not-run_policy-report.pdf
- Lee, H., Oshita, T., Oh, H., & Hove, T. (2014), When do people speak out? Integrating the spiral of silence and situational theory of problem solving. *Journal of Public Relations**Research*, 26(3), 185-199. doi: 10.1080/1062726X.2013.864243
- Lengel, R., & Daft, R. (1988). The selection of communication media as an executive skill. *The Academy of Management Executive*, 11(3), 225-232. doi: 10.5465/ame.1988.4277259
- Love, R., & Miller, M. (2003). Increasing participation in self-governance: A comparison of graduate and undergraduate student perceptions. *College Student Journal*, *37*(4), 532-544.
- Major, A. (1998). The utility of situational theory of publics for assessing public responses to a disaster prediction. *Public Relations Review*, 24(4), 489-508. doi: 10.1016/S0363-8111(99)80113-1
- Marcinkowski, F., & Metag, J. (2014). Why do candidates use online media in constituency campaigning? An application of the theory of planned behavior. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, 11(2), 151-168. doi: 10.1080/19331681.2014.895690
- May, W. (2010). The history of student governance in higher education. *Student Governance*, 28(2), 207-220.
- McKaig, R. & Poticello, S. (1999). The institutional context: Student government as a model of institutional governance. In T. Torok (Ed.) Advising student governments: Models for practice and strategies for success. Columbia, SC: National Association for Campus Activities Educational Foundation.



- McKeon, P. (2016, April 1). SGA moves to increase student involvement. *Trinitonian*. Retrieved from: https://www.trinitonian.com/sga-moves-to-increase-student-involvement/
- Miles, J. (2011). Reflections of student government association leaders: Implications for advisors. *College Student Journal*, 45(2), 324-332.
- Miles, J., & Miller, M. (1997). *Increasing student involvement in self-governance activities: A Delphi approach* (Report No. ED423757). Retrieved from ERIC: https://eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=ED423757
- Miles, J., Miller, M., & Nadler, D. (2008). Student governance: Toward effectiveness and the ideal. *College Student Journal*, 42(4), 1061-1069.
- Miller, C., & Kraus, M. (2004). Participating but not leading: Women's under-representation in student government leadership positions. *College Student Journal*, *38*(3), 423-427.
- Noelle-Neumann, E. (1974). The spiral of silence: A theory of public opinion. *Journal of Communication*, 24(2), 43–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.1974.tb00367.x
- O'Brien, L. (2018, September 13). Student Government Council struggles to engage students. *The Ithacan*. Retrieved from: https://theithacan.org/news/student-governance-council-struggles-to-engage-students/
- Parayil, T. (2018, February 1). SGA debates referendum to increase engagement. *The Johns Hopkins News-Letter*. Retrieved from:

 https://www.jhunewsletter.com/article/2018/02/sga-debates-referendum-to-increase-engagement



- Perrin, A., & Anderson, M. (2019). Share of U.S. adults using social media, including Facebook, is mostly unchanged since 2018. *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved from: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/04/10/share-of-u-s-adults-using-social-media-including-facebook-is-mostly-unchanged-since-2018/
- Philipsen, G. (1997). A theory of speech codes. In. G. Philipsen, & T. Albrect. (Eds.), Developing communication theories, (pp. 119-156). Albany, NY: SUNY Press.
- Rhee, B., & Kim, A. (2011). Collegiate influences on the civic values of undergraduate students in the US revisited. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 12(3), 497-508. doi: 10.1007/s12564-011-9167-8
- Rudolph, F. (1990). *The American college and the culture of aspiration, 1915-1940.* Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Sabin, J., & Daniels, N. (2001). Managed care: Strengthening the consumer voice in managed care. *Psychiatric Science*, *52*(4), 461-464. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.54.4.497
- Skarmeas, D., Leonidou, C., Saridakis, C., & Musarra, G. (2019). Pathways to civic engagement with big social issues: An integrated approach. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 1-25. doi: 10.1007/s10551-019-04276-8
- Somers, W. (2003). Encyclopedia of Union College history. Schenectady: Union College Press.
- Trowler, V. (2010). Student engagement literature review. *The Higher Education Academy*. Retrieved from:
 - https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/6d0c/5f9444fc4e92cca76fe9f426bd107e837a9f.pdf
- Tseng, F., Cheng. T., Kai, L., & Teng, C. (2017). How does media richness contribute to customer loyalty to mobile instant messaging? *Internet Research*, 27(3), 520-537. doi:10.1108/IntR-06-2016-0181



- Umbach, P. & Wawrzynski, M. (2005). Faculty do matter: The role of college faculty in student learning and engagement. *Research in Higher Education*, 46(), 153-184. doi: 10.1007/s11162-004-1598-1
- Urbi, J. (2019, February 2). This is how college got so expensive in America. *CNBC*. Retrieved from: https://www.cnbc.com/2019/02/02/higher-education-big-business-college-expensive-student-loan-debt-america.html
- Verba, S., Schlozman, K., & Brady, H. (1995). *Voice and equality: Civic voluntarism in American politics*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- [Viraj Patel]. (2020, February 16). Intro to student government associations (SGAs). [Video]. *YouTube*. Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nrerQveR0aU
- Voss, J. (2009). An empirical analysis of public perception of reclaimed water applying the situational theory of publics (Master's Thesis, University of South Florida). Retrieved from: https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd/72
- Wagner, L., & Chappell, B. (2016, March 1). South Dakota governor vetoes bull stipulating transgender students' bathroom use. *NPR*. Retrieved from:

 https://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2016/03/01/468732723/south-dakota-s-transgender-bathroom-bill-hits-deadline-for-governor
- Waltherm J., & Parks, M. (2002). Cues filtered out, cues filtered in: Computer-mediated communication and relationships. In M. Knapp & A. Daly (Eds.), *Handbook of Interpersonal Communication* (3rd ed., pp. 529-563). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Werder, K. (2006). Responding to activism: An experimental analysis of public relations strategy influence on attributes of publics. *Journal of Public Relations*, 18(4), 335-356. doi: 10.1207/s1532754xjprr1804_3



- Witte, K. (1992). Putting the fear back in dear appeals: The extended parallel process model. *Communication Monographs*, 59(4), 329-349. doi: 10.1080/03637759209376276
- Witte, K., Cameron, K., McKeon, J., & Berkowitz, J. (1996). Predicting risk behaviors:

 Development and validation of a diagnostic scale. *Journal of Health Communication*,

 1(4), 317-341. doi: 10.1080/108107396127988
- Wooddell, B. (2019, April 22). WIU Student Government president addresses "declining enrollment and morale." *WQAD*. Retrieved from: https://wqad.com/2019/04/22/live-wiu-student-government-president-addresses-declining-enrollment-and-morale/
- Woolard, C. (2015). Engaging engagement: Framing the civic education movement in higher education (Doctoral dissertation, Illinois State University). Retrieved from: https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1382&context=etd



APPENDIX: POSTER DESIGN FOR MANIPULATION CONDITION



What is SGA?

Student Government Association is an organization composed of student leaders who are elected by the student body. As Senators, these leaders communicate with campus administration on your behalf.

What can we help with?

SGA helps solve student concerns and provides funding for student organizations. Common concerns include food at the dining center and on-campus parking. If you have ideas on how to improve the campus experience for students, please reach out to your senators.

When do we meet?

The SGA meets every Monday at 7 pm in the Jackson Ballroom. Meetings are usually 90 minutes long. We love having students at the meetings, and our agenda can be found here.

How to get involved?

Elections for Student Government Association senators and the student body president and vice president are held in March. Petitions for the election generally become available in February.

Scan this QR code for an application:

Figure A-1. Poster design for manipulation condition

